NO. 10/32

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BRANDON JEFFERSON,

Case No. C-10-268351-1 Dept No. IV

FILED

Apellant,

JUL 07 2016

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

CLERK OF SUPPLEME COURT

APELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from denial of post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County,

The Honorable Earley Kerry District Court Judge.

BRANDON M. JEFFERSON

ELY STATE PRISON

P.O. Box 1989

Ely, Nevada 89301

Appellant, PRO-PER

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY.

200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

(702) 455-4711

CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO

Attorney General

100 North Carson Street

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE VIOLATING JEFFERSON'S FIFTH,
 SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION.
 TRIAL ATTORNEY BRYAN COX FAILED TO DISCOVER AND PRESENT TO THE
 DISTRICT COURT JEFFERSON'S REQUEST TO REMAIN SILENT DURING
 CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION THAT WAS IGNORED BY POLICE DETECTIVES.
- II. JEFFERSON WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL.

 JEFFERSON FILED A BAR COMPLAINT AGAINST HIS TRIAL ATTORNEY AND NEVER DISCUSSED OR WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO CONFLICT-FREE COUNSEL.

 JEFFERSON BEING FORCED TO TRIAL WITH AN ATTORNEY WHO TOLD JEFFERSON HE BELONGED IN PRISON VIOLATED HIS FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOORTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION.

All parenthetical cites refer to the attached Appendix by exhibit numbers from Jefferson's Pro-se post conviction and supplement petition for WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, and page numbers from the trial record labeled as "TR.". All cites are in chronological order with respect to the issues presented in each ground.

- III. APPELLANT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE VIOLATING JEFFERSON'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION.

 ATTORNEY AUDREY CONWAY FAILED TO PRESENT TO THIS COURT ON DIRECT APPEAL A FOURTH AMENDENT VIOLATION BASED ON THE DEVELOPED REGORD.
- JEFFERSON DID NOT ENJOY A FAIR TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF HIS FIFTH,

 SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION. PROSECUTOR

 WILLIAM MERBACK SUBORNED PERJURY FROM DETECTIVE KATOWICH ABOUT

 THE RELIABILITY OF EXCLUDED EVIDENCE LEADING TO JEFFERSON'S ARREST.

 THE STATE OBSTRUCTED JUSTICE BY INTIMIDATING A CHILD TO CHANGE

 HER TESTIMONY FROM ANSWERS THAT WOULD ACQUIT JEFFERSON, INTO WHAT

 RESULTED IN HIS CONVICTIONS. JEFFERSON IS ACTUALLY AND LEGALLY INNOCENT.

STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State of Nevada filed a Complaint on September 16, 2010, alleging five counts of Sexual assault on a minor under fourteen, and lewdness with a minor under fourteen, two counts. On October 15, 2010 the state filed an Amended Complaint adding three counts of lewdness and one count of Sexual assault. Under the advice of Counsel, Jefferson waived his right to Conduct a Preliminary hearing and he was bound over to the District Court Dept. II. On October 26, 2010, the state filed an Information alleging two Counts of lewdness. When Jefferson refused a "Plea deal", the state filed an Amended Information on November 05, 2010, alleging Six counts of Sexual assault on a Minor under fourteen and five counts of lewdness with a minor under fourteen. Jefferson was arraigned and Pled Not Guilty.

On November 16, 2011, the state filed a Second Amended Information. Before Closing arguements, the State filed a Third Amended Information dismissing Count XI. The defense did not oppose, and Count XI was dismissed without the Jurors knowledge. See, (TR. 1452: 4-20). Jurors convicted Jefferson on Counts II, IX and X Sexual assault on a minor under fourteen, and counts II and IV lewtness with a minor under fourteen. Jurors acquitted Jefferson of all other counts. The Court dismissed count II for redundancy. On October 30, 2012, the State filed the Judgement of Conviction. The Court sentenced Jefferson to thirty-five years to life on count IX, Consecutive to Counts I and IV; and thirty-five years to life on count X, Consecutive to Counts I and IV; and thirty-five years to life on count X, Concurrent with count IX, Plus fees, restitution and lifetime Supervision.

Jefferson filed a timely notice of appeal on November 14, 2012. On July, 29, 2014, the Nevada Supreme Court entered an order of affirmance. On September 09, 2014, the Court issued Remittitur. On October 02, 2014, Jefferson filed a proper person, Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On October 28, 2014, Attorney Matthew D. Lay was appointed to represent Jefferson, and filed a Supplemental Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on December 22, 2015. The District Court denied relief on May 19, 2016. This Proper Person Appeal from denial of Jefferson's Writ of Habeas Corpus follows.

² The State filed the Third Amended Information because C. did not provide testimony to Support count XI, regardless of Jefferson's involuntary admissions to the act. The full Colloquy on this matter extends from; (TR. 1452: 4-20 - 1456). Jefferson asserts Mr. Cox, his attorney did not file a Motion to Dismiss count XI, but was motivated by the Court to respond to the State's request. Further, the State's actions may amount to constructively amending its information without the function of a Grand Jury violating Jefferson's Fifth Amendment Right.

STATEMENT OF FACTUAL HISTORY

In 2010, Brandon and Cindy Jefferson had been together for ten years and were raising their seven year old son Brandon Jr., and five year old daughter C., in Las Vegas, Nevada. In September of 2010, Brandon worked at a Rehabilitation Center, and Cindy worked at a Retail Store. On September 14, 2010, Cindy was angry that Brandon lost his job at the County hospital, and did not approve of his employment at the Rehab Center. Brandon left the apartment, and Cindy Searched for him. When she could not locate Brandon, Cindy picked the children up from School and prepared them dinner. Cindy told the Children that she wanted to seperate from their father, and needed their help so it could only be the three of them. Cindy formed a pact with the children in the form of a Promise to Share Secrets with her.

About thirty minutes later, Cindy claimed that C. Said she had a Secret that Brandon told her to keep from Cindy. Cindy claimed C. then said Daddy makes me suck his tee-tee." Cindy repeatedly asked C. if this was true, and what else did Brandon do. Cindy Claimed C. then said Brandon Put his penis down there. Cindy called 911. Detectives' Matthew Demas, and Todd katowich decided to investigate Cindy's hearsay allegations about Brandon further. Police detectives' asked C. directly to explain what happened to her.

Detective Demas told C. to Use "Tagalog" words. Detective Demas asked C. had anyone touched her private areas C. Said "NoBody touches ME AT THE PRIVATES." Detective Demas Said, "NoBody Does", C. replied "MM-MM."

Detective Demas then let C. know he did not believe her: "BUT I HEARD SOMETHING A LITTLE DIFFERENT today!" Detective Demas repeated this statement.

C. denied telling anyone that she had been touched, and denied ever being forced to touch anyones' private areas. Detective Demas then told C. that She would be in no "TROUBLE" for Confirming his belief she was a Sexual victim. C. told Detective Demas that <u>CINDY</u>, her mother, was the only one saying that Brandon made C. touch him sexually. After accusing C. of not telling the truth, and repeating Suggestive questions. Detectives' Demas, and Katowich obtained the complaint from C. to effectuate Jefferson's arrest.

An examination revealed no signs of Sexual assault. This whole time Brandon had returned to the apartment to notice Cindy and the children were Missing. Brandon called 911 to file a report. Detectives Demas, and katowich met Brandon in front of his apartment and handcuffed him. Detectives did not explain Brandon was under arrest or that he was a suspect in any Crimes. During an interrogation, Brandon denied Sexually assaulting C. Detectives said if Brandon wanted to be with his family in the future, a confession was needed. Brandon invoked his right to remain silent. The detectives then ignored Brandon, and threatened harsher treatment from the "D.A.", and only then did Brandon admittedly accept responsibility.

At trial, C. testified THREE times during direct examination "NO" that she had not been Subjected to repeated Sexual assaults attributed to Jefferson. C. testified on direct examination "NO" she had never even Seen her father Brandon's Penis. The Prosecutor, William Merback, forced C. to Change those answers. During deliberations, the jurors requested for a Playback of Cis testimony. The court denied their request, and Consequently a mixed verdict was returned of guilty on five counts and NOT GUILTY of five Counts.

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

This brief will show that Jefferson received conflict ridden and ineffective assistance of Counsel for both trial and direct appeal for three Seperate reasons. This brief will also show that Jefferson is actually and legally innocent under Nevada State Law. That Jefferson's arrest and trial Was not conducted in accord with Due Process. First, the uncontridicted LAW OF THIS CASE is Detectives' Demas and Katowich were active participants in the production of an Untrustworthy complaint to effectuate Jefferson's arrest for interrogation Purposes. This arrest was caculated for the sole Purpose of obtaining an incriminating statement from Tefferson to establish Probable Cause. Jefferson's arrest for such a reason violates the concept of the Fourth Amendment and his right thereto because law enforcement were operating on a dubious theory Jefferson committed a felony and knew it. Second even if Jefferson's arrest is to be characterized as objectively reasonable, the resulting incriminating statement was not voluntarily made.

Jefferson was twenty-nine years old with no Criminal record.

Jefferson called 911 for help. Jefferson was arrested without being told so.

Before Jefferson was advised of the Miranda warning, while handcuffed to a steel bar, detective demas first offered to "UN-ARREST" Jefferson. Agreeing to those conditions, Jefferson waived his Miranda rights. Only then did Detectives' inform Jefferson that he was a Suspect in a Sexual assault investigation. Jefferson denied involvement, and after a collateral attack by the detectives' to either confess or risk never seeing his wife and children in the future, Jefferson unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent. The police dishonored Jefferson's civil right, continued the interrogation, ultimately threatening that the D.A." would make it worse for Jefferson if he did not confess to this alleged crime. Jefferson incriminated himself.

During pre-trial proceedings, Jefferson's Public Defender Mr. Bryan cox refused to, and failed horribly to work with Jefferson or represent Jefferson's intrests in the District Court. Attorney Bryan Cox told Jefferson to his face that he belonged in Prison three weeks before trial was Supposed to start. This prompted Jefferson to file a Motion to Dismiss, a Complaint to the Nevada Bar Association, and other informal notices to the head Public Defender, and the District Court Judge detailing the conflict. For the next nine months Jefferson objected to Mr. Cox as his attorney of record, but was forced to trial without discussing or waiving his right to Conflict free coursel, with Mr. Bryan Cox as his trial attorney.

During this trial, the Prosecution Suborned Perviry from Defective Todd Katowich regarding the trial Courts Conclusion that C.'s excluded out of Court Statement was not trustworthy because of improper questioning techniques used by detective Demas Specifically. The Prosecution literally refused to accept testimony from C. indicating Jefferson was innocent of the multiple offenses as charged by the state, and persuaded a Seven Year old female to stick to the script. In closing, the Prosecution told Jurors that Cindy's Story about Jefferson's alleged misdeeds "MADE On direct appeal, Public Defender Ms. Audrey Conway was a parrot for the Constitutionally worthless arguments of trial counsel Bryan cox. Jefferson explicitly told attorney Ms. Conway that based on the state's intentional use of persury from the police detective about Ci's excluded statement leading to his arrest the virtual admissions by the detectives' that Jefferson was arrested for investigation but could be "UN-ARRESTED" Presumably if a confession was not gathered, that he was arrested without reason to believe that a crime occured. That police violated his individual right under the Fourth Amendment, Ms. Conway presented no such issue to this court.

ARGUMENT

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution

Guarantees that, "IN ALL CRIMINAL PROSECUTIONS, THE ACCUSED SHALL

ENJOY THE RIGHT TO HAVE THE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR HIS

DEFENCE" U.S. Const. Amend. VI.

"A Convicted defendant making a claim of ineffective assistance must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable Professional Judgement." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S 668, 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Miranda Issues that are "Inadequately developed in State Court are reviewable under Cause and prejudice". Keeney v. Tamayo-Reyes, 504 U.S. 1;8-12 (1992). "Eliminating Habeas review of Miranda Issues would not prevent a state prisoner from simply converting his barred Miranda claim into a Due Process claim that his conviction rested on an involuntary confession." Withrow v.-Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 693, 113 s.Ct. 1745 (1993). Defense counsel has a duty to Make reasonable investigations or make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." Strickland V. Washington, 466 U.S. at 691 (1984).

I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE VIOLATING JEFFERSON'S FIFTH,
SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION.
TRIAL ATTORNEY BRYAN COX FAILED TO DISCOVER AND PRESENT THAT
JEFFERSON INVOKED HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT DURING
CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION AT A SUPPRESSION HEARING.

Jefferson incorporates in support hereof all of the foregoing grounds of this Petition and Supplemental Writ of Habeas Corpus, to include all grounds of this Appeal above and below AS IF FULLY STATED HEREIN.

On March 25, 2011, Attorney Bryan Cox filed a Motion to Supress the incriminating Statements Jefferson made to Detectives' Matthew Demas, and Todd katowich on September 14, 2010. The District Court held an evidentiary hearing Pursuant to Jackson V. Denno, 378 4.5.368 (1964).

Attorney Bryan Cox argued that Police Promises of leniency, misrepresentations of "DNA" evidence, and threats of a life sentence for "Monsters" was grounds for this statement to be supressed. Mr. Cox did not mention that Police arrested Jefferson without telling him so. "I'M NOT ABOUT TO EXPLAIN TO YOU ON THE STREET WHERE YOUR NEIGHBORS CAN HEAR WHAT'S GOING ON- YOU HAVE PRIVACY." See, (EXHIBIT 2, Pg. 52). Mr. Cox made no mention that police first offered "UN-ARREST" Jefferson while he was handcuffed to a bar, Prior to being advised of Miranda, and that once those conditions were agreed upon, Jefferson merely acknowledged that he UNDERSTOOD those rights not that he WAIVED those rights. See, (EXHIBIT#3, pg. 2).

Oddly, Mr. Cox made no mention that Jefferson invoked his Fifth Amendment Right to remain silent in response to a police threat to either Confess, or risk sceing his children in the future: "I-WHAT-I MAYBE-MAYBE UM, WHAT-WHAT-ME NOT HAVING MONEY. YOU KNOW, I HAVING A BEER EVERY NOW AND THEN. THAT'S AROUTIT. THAT'S ALL I CAN SAY." See, (EXHIBIT#5, Pg. 27). Mr. Cox made no mention that not only did police ignore and derive Jefferson of his constitutional guarantees under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, but that police Continued to interrogate Jefferson about the exact same subject matter eventually threatening a harsher legal proceeding from the District Attorney for exercising his Fifth Amendment right. (EXHIBIT#6, Pg. 40). These fatal omissions Probably weighed against the Court supressing this statement. Jefferson contends that Mr. Cox's deficient performance at that manent, "Resulted in actual and Substantial disadvantage to the Course of Jefferson's defense." Strickland V. Washington, 466 U.6 at 682, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution

Guarantees that "NO PERSON SHALL BE COMPELLED IN ANY CRIMINAL

CAGE TO BE A WITNESS AGAINST HIMSELF." U.S. Const. Amend. V. An

involuntary statement obtained from a defendant in violation of the

Fifth Amendment may not be admitted for any purpose. See, Michigan V.
Harvey, 494 U.S. 344, 351, 110 S.Ct. 1176 (1990); Henry V. Kernan, 197 F.3d 1021, 1026

1029 (9TH Cir. 1999). In Support of this argument, Jefferson relies on

Cooper V. Dupnik, 923 F.2d 1220, 1244-45 (9TH Cir. 1992); California Attorneys for

Criminal Justice V. Butts, 195 F.3d 1039, 1047-1049 (9TH Cir. 1999); and

Allan V. State, 38 P.3d 175-179 (Nev. 2002).

In each of these cases, the court found these defendants' statements were involuntary because law enforcement disregarded these defendants' attempt to assert their right to remain sitent, right to counsel, or both. In Jefferson's case, he does not believe his trial, and Appellate Counsel Mr. Bryan cox, and Ms. Audrey Conway did or could not recognize see, (EXHIBIT #5, pg. 27). Wherein response to a police threat, Jefferson stated: "THAT'S ABOUT IT. THAT'S ALL I CAN SAY." Without Presenting this to the District Court, or the Nevada Supreme Court as a deliberate violation of Jefferson's right to remain silent under the Fifth Amendment. Once Jefferson said: "THAT'S ALL I CAN SAY." Detectives' Demas and katowich were to "Scrupulously Honor" Jefferson's right to cut off interrogation, See, Miranda V. Arizona, 384-iy. S. 436, 473-474, 86 s.ct. 1602 (1966).

Because Jefferson DID NOT request for an attorney, the questioning could resume only after Jefferson's right to sitence was honored, some time had elapsed, and Detectives' readvise Jefferson of the Miranda. Warning. See, Michigan V. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 104-107, 96 s.ct. 321, 327-28 (1975). Here, Jefferson was questioned not even a second after he indicated he did not want to answer any more questions of the Detectives'. Detective Demos's question: "WELL, WHEN YOU ASK HER TO COME TO YOUR ROOM, WHAT GOES ON?" was "Reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response." See, Rhode Island Y. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 301 (1980). See, (EXHIBIT #5, pg. 27).

This was custodial interrogation. Jefferson argues his words, "THAT'S ALL CAN SAY," were not a mere figure of speech. The Ninth Circuit Caurt of Africals defined ambiguity as words open to "More than one interpretation." See, Anderson V. Terhunc, 516 F.3d at 781 (9TH cir. 2008). "A SUSPECT Seeking to invoke his right to remain silent need not provide any statement more explicit or techniqually worded than I HAVE NOTHING TO SAY." See, Arnold V. Runnels, 421 F.3d at 865 (9TH cir. 2005); United States V. Garcia-Cruz, 978 F.2d at 542(1992) (The court found police ceased questioning after the defendant stated: "No. Well I know because like I Said since, I'm not gonna get all off into that, but like I told you, I do dictate the gang. And, and, and, and I'm not, THAT'S ALL I CAN SAY). See also, Allan V. State, 38 P.3d at 177 (Nev. 2002), This Court acknowledged the defendant's statement "I Don't HAVE ANYTHING to SAY," and police interrogation that followed resulted in an involuntary confession.

The state must prove "Beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." See, Chapman v.-California, 386 U.S. 18,24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The admission of an involuntary statement is reviewed for harmless error. See, Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 311, 312, 111 S.Ct. 1246 (1991), "To say that an error did not contribute to the verdict is, rather, to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the Jury considered on the Issue in question, as revealed in the record." See, Yates v. Evatt 500 U.S. 391, 111 S.Ct. 1884, 1893 (1991). "When a Federal Judge in a Habeas Proceeding is in grave doubt about whether a trial error of Federal Law had a Substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict, that error is not harmless, and the petitioner must win." See, O'Neal v. McAninch, S13 U.S. 432, 115 S.Ct. 994, 999 (1995).

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