IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BRANDON JEFFERSON,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Feb 06 2017 11:48 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 70732

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From an Order Denying a Post-Conviction Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MATTHEW LAY, ESQ. Nevada Bar #012249 Nguyen & Lay 732 South Sixth Street, Suite 102 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 383-3200 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and related Supplement. The district court did not err in rejecting Appellant's allegation that his counsel had a conflict of interest or his allegation of cumulative error. Further, the district court did not err in denying the request for an evidentiary hearing. Therefore, the district court's order denying the Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and its Supplement should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS.

Appellant challenges the district court's denial of his claim that counsel was ineffective because of a conflict of interest without holding an evidentiary hearing,

and of his claim of cumulative error. However, the district court did not err in its handling of these issues. Therefore, the district court's order denying the Petition and Supplement should be affirmed.

A. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Appellant must prove that he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686-87, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2063-64 (1984); <u>see also State v. Love</u>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). <u>Strickland</u> requires a defendant to first demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient, and second, that this deficiency actually prejudiced the defendant. <u>Id</u>. This Court may consider both prongs in any order and need not consider them both when a defendant's showing on either prong is insufficient. <u>Kirksey</u>, 112 Nev. at 987, 923 P.2d at 1107; <u>Harrington</u>, 131 S.Ct. at 787-88. "Surmounting <u>Strickland</u>'s high bar is never...easy." <u>Harrington v. Richter</u>, 131 S.Ct. 770, 788 (2011).

With respect to the first prong, a defendant is not entitled to errorless counsel. Rather, "'[d]eficient' assistance of counsel is representation that falls below an objective standard of reasonableness." <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). "[T]he purpose of the effective assistance guarantee of the Sixth Amendment is not to improve the quality of legal representation . . . [but] simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial." <u>Cullen v. Pinholster</u>, _____U.S. ____, ___, 131 S. Ct. 1388, 1403 (2012) (quotation omitted); <u>see also</u> <u>Jackson v. Warden, Nev. State Prison</u>, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975) ("Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel"). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686, 104 S. Ct. at 2052.

Indeed, the question is whether an attorney's representations amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, "not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." <u>Harrington v. Richter</u>, 562 U.S. 86, 105, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788 (2011); <u>see also Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065 ("There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way."). Accordingly, the role of a court in considering alleged ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978).

Courts begin with the presumption of effectiveness, and Appellant bears the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that counsel was ineffective. <u>Means v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-1012, 103 P.3d 25, 32-33 (2004) (holding "that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence."). "Judicial review of a lawyer's representation is highly deferential, and a defendant must overcome the presumption that a challenged action might be considered sound strategy." <u>State v. LaPena</u>, 114 Nev. 1159, 1166, 968 P.2d 750, 754 (1998). Accordingly, there is a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689. "[R]elying on 'the harsh light of hindsight' to cast doubt on a trial" that took place many years ago "is precisely what <u>Strickland</u> and AEDPA seek to prevent." <u>Harrington</u>, 131 S.Ct. at 779 (citing Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 702 (2002)).

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 104 S. Ct. at 2052). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694); <u>see also Harrington</u>, 562 U.S. at 104, 131 S. Ct. at 787. Appellant argues that he was denied effective assistance of trial counsel solely because counsel had a conflict of interest because Appellant filed a complaint with the State Bar about him. AOB 7, 16-19. Appellant asserts that this conflict was imputed to his appellate counsel, also an attorney in the Clark County Public Defender's Office; this allegedly imputed conflict is the sole basis for his claim that appellate counsel was ineffective. AOB 8, 16.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to conflictfree representation. <u>Coleman v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 1, 3, 846 P.2d 276, 277 (1993). A lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. Nev. R. Prof'l Conduct 1.7(a). A concurrent conflict of interest exists if there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by a personal interest of the lawyer. Nev. R. Prof'l Conduct 1.7(a)(2). To demonstrate an error based on an alleged conflict of interest, Appellant must show that counsel "actively represented conflicting interests' and that 'an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 692 (quoting <u>Cuyler v. Sullivan</u>, 446 U.S. 335, 348-50, 100 S. Ct. 1708 (1980)).

Here, the record shows that Appellant – despite numerous opportunities – never mentioned his communication with the bar. For example, when Appellant filed a motion to dismiss counsel, he did not mention the State Bar and, instead,

raised other issues. Similarly, when the motion came on for hearing and Appellant was able to address the court, he (again) did not mention the State Bar and instead discussed the issues in his motion. These issues were discussed and resolved in court, and the motion to dismiss counsel was denied. As such, the claim that counsel had a conflict of interest is not supported by the record.

Moreover, during his direct appeal, Appellant challenged the denial of his motion to dismiss counsel but, again, did not mention any communication with the State Bar. In affirming the denial of that motion, this Court concluded that Appellant's conflict with his trial counsel was "minimal" and "could easily be resolved." AA 35.

In addition, to demonstrate an error based on an alleged conflict of interest, Appellant must show that counsel "actively represented conflicting interests' and that 'an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 692 (quoting <u>Cuyler v. Sullivan</u>, 446 U.S. 335, 348-50, 100 S. Ct. 1708 (1980)). Even assuming <u>arguendo</u> that a conflict of interest existed, Appellant cannot show that it "adversely affected his lawyer's performance." For example, trial counsel, among other things, filed several pre-trial motions in this case, retained and presented an expert witness at trial, and secured not-guilty verdicts on half the counts in this case.

15

Further, even assuming <u>arguendo</u> that such a conflict would be properly imputed to appellate counsel, since there was no conflict of interest of trial counsel,

Appellant's claim as to appellate counsel also fails.

As such, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying this claim and the order should be affirmed.

1. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

NRS 34.770 determines when a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary

hearing:

- 1. The judge or justice, upon review of the return, answer and all supporting documents which are filed, shall determine whether an evidentiary hearing is required. A petitioner must not be discharged or committed to the custody of a person other than the respondent *unless an evidentiary hearing is held*.
- 2. If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he shall dismiss the petition without a hearing.
- 3. If the judge or justice determines that an evidentiary hearing is required, he shall grant the writ and shall set a date for the hearing.

NRS 34.770 (emphasis added). The Nevada Supreme Court has held that if a petition can be resolved without expanding the record, then no evidentiary hearing is necessary. <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994); <u>Mann v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002).

Appellant is only entitled to an evidentiary hearing if his petition is supported by specific factual allegations, which, if true, would entitle him to relief unless the factual allegations are repelled by the record. <u>Marshall</u>, 110 Nev. at 1331, 885 P.2d at 605; <u>see also Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984) (holding that "[a] defendant seeking post-conviction relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the record"). "A claim is 'belied' when it is contradicted or proven to be false by the record as it existed at the time the claim was made." <u>Mann</u>, 118 Nev. at 354, 46 P.3d at 1230 (2002).

It is improper to hold an evidentiary hearing simply to make a complete record. <u>See State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005) ("The district court considered itself the 'equivalent of . . . the trial judge' and consequently wanted 'to make as complete a record as possible.' This is an incorrect basis for an evidentiary hearing."). Further, the United States Supreme Court has held that an evidentiary hearing is not required simply because counsel's actions are challenged as being unreasonable strategic decisions. <u>Harrington v.</u> <u>Richter</u>, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788 (2011).

Appellant argues that the district court was required to hold an evidentiary hearing to determine whether his counsel was ineffective based on the alleged conflict of interest. However, as discussed <u>supra</u>, the claim that there was a conflict of interest is not supported by the record. As such, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the request for an evidentiary hearing and the order should be affirmed.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR.

The Nevada Supreme Court has not endorsed application of its direct appeal cumulative error standard to the post-conviction <u>Strickland</u> context. <u>McConnell v.</u> <u>State</u>, 125 Nev. 243, 259, 212 P.3d 307, 318 (2009). Nor should cumulative error apply on post-conviction review. <u>Middleton v. Roper</u>, 455 F.3d 838, 851 (8th Cir. 2006) (cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1134, 1275 S.Ct. 980 (2007)) ("a habeas petitioner cannot build a showing of prejudice on a series of errors, none of which would by itself meet the prejudice test.")

Nevertheless, even if cumulative error review is available, such a finding in the context of a <u>Strickland</u> claim is extraordinarily rare. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Harris by &</u> <u>Through Ramseyer v. Wood</u>, 64 F.3d 1432, 1438 (9th Cir. 1995). After all, "[s]urmounting <u>Strickland's</u> high bar is never an easy task," <u>Padilla</u>, 559 U.S. at 371, 130 S.Ct. at 1485, and there can be no cumulative error where Appellant fails to demonstrate any single violation of <u>Strickland</u>. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Athey v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 520, 526, 797 P.2d 956 (1990) ("[B]ecause we find no error ... the doctrine does not apply here."); <u>United States v. Sypher</u>, 684 F.3d 622, 628 (6th Cir. 2012) ("Where, as here, no individual ruling has been shown to be erroneous, there is no 'error' to consider, and the cumulative error doctrine does not warrant reversal"); <u>Turner v.</u> <u>Quarterman</u>, 481 F.3d 292, 301 (5th Cir. 2007) ("[W]here individual allegations of error are not of constitutional stature or are not errors, there is nothing to cumulate.") (internal quotation omitted).

Here, Appellant's claim of cumulative error is nonsensical. Appellant identifies precisely one error that counsel allegedly made: continuing to represent Appellant after Appellant filed a State Bar complaint.⁴ Therefore, even assuming arguendo that counsel did act in error in that regard, there are no additional errors to cumulate and so a claim of cumulative error is factually and legally impossible. Moreover, since Appellant has failed to demonstrate that counsel committed even that single error, as discussed <u>supra</u>, there can be no cumulative error. Therefore, the district court's order should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that the district court's denial of Appellant's Post-Conviction Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus be AFFIRMED.

⁴ Although other issues were raised in the Petition in district court, Appellant has not challenged any of the district court's denials of those other claims. As such, Appellant currently challenges only one aspect of counsel's performance. Therefore, none of the other issues raised in the Petition and its Supplement can be considered here as to cumulative error.